VICTOR LOWELL FRYOU

FILED

APPELLANT

AUG 27 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2007-KA-0635-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

V.

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS Brenda Jackson Patterson, MS Bar No 301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Victor Lowell Fryou

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VICTOR LOWELL FRYOU

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2007-KA-0635-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON SIMPLE MURDER.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GIVE A LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE INSTRUCTION ON MANSLAUGHTER.
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO APPLY THE WEATHERSBY RULE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the November 2005 Term of the Grand Jury, for the Circuit Court for the First Judicial District, Harrison County, Mississippi, Victor Lowell Fryou was indicted for wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously and with or without design to effect death, kill and murder Patrick Devriendt, a human being, without authority of law, while in the commission of the crime and felony of robbery, as defined by Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-73 (1972), contrary to and in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(e) (1972, as amended). After a jury trial, Mr. Fryou was convicted of capital murder, the state having waived the death penalty, he was sentenced on February 8, 2007 to serve a life sentence without the benefit of parole or probation.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Audrey Lee Ann Newsome (Ms. Newsome) and Victor Lowell Fryou (Mr. Fryou) lived together for many years and were the parents of a four year old daughter. Ms. Newsome had two children that were not Mr. Fryou's. They lost their trailer and were living with Mr. Fryou's sister, Valerie Fryou. On July 31, 2005, Mr. Fryou was in jail on a misdemeanor possession of paraphernalia charge and he was released on his own recognizance on August 8, 2005. T. 265. Prior to his release, Ms. Newsome

engaged in sexual intercourse with Patrick Devriendt (Mr. Devriendt) to get money to bond Mr. Fryou out of jail. Mr. Devriendt promised her one hundred dollars for sexual favors, but only gave her forty dollars. At one point in time, she and Mr. Fryou were neighbors with Mr. Devriendt and the two men worked roofing jobs together. However, they were no longer neighbors and lived approximately two and one-half miles apart. When Mr. Fryou was released from jail, he went to his sister, Valerie Fryou's home where Ms. Newsome and their children were. Once he arrived at his sister's house, she told him that Ms. Newsome and Mr. Devriendt had been messing around. T. 267. He confronted Ms. Newsome and she denied it. Mr. Fryou then went to see Mr. Devriendt and he denied having sexual intercourse with Ms. Newsome. However, Mr. Devriendt told him he loaned Ms. Newsome forty dollars and as soon as he could come back to work with him he owed him the forty dollars. They parted on that day on good terms. T. 268. When Mr. Fryou arrived home, he lied and told Ms. Newsome that Mr. Devriendt admitted she and he had had sexual intercourse. Ms. Newsome admitted it was true.

Mr. Fryou worked a job with his brother redesigning his brother's house up until the morning of August 20, 2007. His brother paid him at the completion of the job. On the morning of August 20, 2005, he went over to see Mr. Devriendt about a roofing job and to return his wallet that Ms. Newsome stole from him. He arrived early because the earlier you get to the job the cooler it is. T. 271. He borrowed Mr. Devriendt's truck to run to the Chevron on Canal Road to purchase some cigarettes. He had money his brother gave him and six hundred dollars Ms. Newsome gave him that she got from Mr. Devriendt. T. 272. He arrived back at Mr. Devriendt and they discussed the roofing job and watched the Weather Channel. When he and Mr. Devriendt were neighbors he would come over early and they would have coffee and watch the Weather Channel to see if rain, scattered showers or whatever.

Mr. Devriendt started pouring a cup of coffee and asked where Ms. Newsome was. Mr. Fryou told him he got rid of her. T. 275. At that point, Mr. Devriendt said something about Ms. Newsome that hurt his feelings. T. 276. Mr. Fryou let his emotions get the best of him and he took a swing at him because he was upset with the things Mr. Devriendt was saying he had done with Ms. Newsome. T. 305. After he took a swing at Mr. Devriendt, Mr. Devriendt grabbed him and slammed him to the floor and got on his back and began pounding his face into the floor. T. 276 and 305-306. Because Mr. Fryou weighed only one hundred thirty pounds and Mr. Devriendt was six feet tall and weighed two hundred twenty pounds it was difficult for Mr. Fryou to get loose from Mr. Devriendt. T. 276. and T. 195. Mr. Fryou was struggling to get Mr. Devriendt off his back and because of the pounding to his head, Mr. Fryou's nose and his mouth were busted. Blood was running down in his eyes. Everything was blurry and while Mr. Devriendt had him pinned to the floor, Mr. Fryou saw a knife on the floor and he picked the knife up and stabbed Mr. Devriendt with it. T. 276. He further testified that he told Investigator Pullen that after he killed Mr. Devriendt, he decided to steal his wallet to make it look like a robbery. T. 301. However, Mr. Fryou testified that he made up the story that he stole Mr. Devriendt's wallet to protect Ms. Newsome, who stole his wallet the day before. He stated that he did not want her to go to jail. T.302.

After Mr. Fryou killed Mr. Devriendt, he went home and told Ms. Newsome that he had killed him after they had gotten into a confrontation. She guessed over her. She testified that she did not steal Mr. Devriendt's wallet but that Mr. Fryou came in and had like a thousand dollars in paper money. She said he told her he got it from Mr. Devriendt. T.127. They later went to the Grand Casino Hotel in Gulfport and as soon as she could get free she went and reported the murder to security in the hotel lobby. T. 130.

Mr. Fryou was arrested after he went back to his sister's house and had her call the sheriff's department to tell them where he was. T. 307.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GIVE A LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE INSTRUCTION ON SIMPLE MURDER.

Mr. Fryou contends that the trial court erred when it refused to grant him a lesser-included offense instruction on simple murder. He states that the evidence is insufficient to find he was engaged in the commission of robbery at the time he killed Mr. Devriendt. The indictment states in pertinent part: Victor Lowell Fryou did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously and with or without design to effect death, kill and murder Patrick Devriendt, a human being, without authority of law, while in the commission of the crime and felony of Robbery, as defined by Section 97-3-73, Miss. Code of 1972.

By its form, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19, implicitly recognizes the established doctrine that simple murder is a lesser included offense of capital murder. Wheeler v. State, 536 So.2d 1341, 1344 (Miss. 1988).

"Lesser-included offense instructions should be given if there is an evidentiary basis in the record that would permit a jury rationally to find the defendant guilty of the lesser offense and to acquit him of the greater offense." Sanders v. State, 781 So.2d 114, 119 (¶ 16) (Miss. 2001) (quoting Welch v. State, 566 So.2d 680, 684 (Miss. 1990)). An evidentiary basis is established when a "rational" or "reasonable" jury could find the defendant not guilty of the principle offense charged yet find the defendant guilty of the lesser-included offense. Harper v. State, 478 So.2d 1017 (Miss. 1985).

The trial court denied jury instructions D-14 and D-15 which would have given the jury the option to consider simple murder and manslaughter as lesser included offenses of capital murder. RE 60-62. The only reasoning the trial court gave for denial of these instructions was that manslaughter and self defense are opposing defenses and that the trial court did not believe the defense was entitled to a heat of passion manslaughter instruction and a self-defense instruction. T. 334.

To find simple murder the evidence would have had to have shown the killing of a human being without the authority of law by any means or in any manner when done with deliberate design to effect the death of the person killed. Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-19 (1)(a) (1972).

There is substantial evidence in the record to support the giving of a murder instruction. First, Officer Kamien testified that Mr. Fryou confessed to killing Mr. Devriendt for having sexual intercourse with Audrey. T. 98-99. Next, Ms. Audrey Newsome testified that when Mr. Fryou left the morning of August 20, 2005 around 3:35 a.m. he had a knife with him and he told her he was going to the port to see if he could get a job throwing chicken. T. 121. When he came back he told her he went to Mr. Devriendt's to get work and they got into a confrontation over her and he killed him. T. 127-128. On cross-examination she admitted telling Captain Pullen that Mr. Fryou might have been going there to look for work. He might have gone to see if Mr. Devriendt would hire him back on. She also testified that Mr. Fryou had a lot of paper money when he came from Mr. Devriendt. T. 127-128, 146. Here, there is a dispute between Ms. Newsome and Mr. Fryou, who says Ms. Newsome stole Mr. Devriendt's wallet and gave him part of the money the day before he killed Mr. Devriendt. T. 302.

Candy Woodard testified that Mr. Fryou came by to borrow money to get gas and he told her that his girlfriend went to see his boss to borrow money to get him out of jail. She said he further stated that his boss told her he would not give her the money unless she slept with him. He was supposed to give her \$100 dollars but he only gave her \$45. When he got out of jail he went to talk

to his boss to try to let bygones be bygones and his boss started talking smack to him and he lost it and killed him. T. 151-152.

Mr. Fryou testified that he went to Mr. Devriendt's house to start back to work. Says Mr. Devriendt opened the door and invited him in and they discussed the job that he had available. He says they were in the kitchen and Mr. Devriendt started off by asking whether he got rid of his girlfriend. He asked him, "Kicked that bitch to the curb yet". Says he further said, "the only thing she is good for is giving head." State's Exhibit 27. At that time, he said he swung at him and missed, then he swung at him again and missed the second time. Then, Mr. Devriendt knocked him down and got on top of his back and started pounding his face into the floor. T. 276. He had Mr. Fryou pinned down on the floor because he was bigger than him. Mr. Devriendt was six feet and weighed 220 pounds and Mr. Fryou weighed 130 pounds. T. 276 and 195. There was a knife on the floor and he picked it up. He said he stabbed and kept stabbing to try to get loose from him. He said he did not bring a knife with him despite what Ms. Newsome stated. He testified that he saw a knife on the floor and grabbed it and that's how he got Mr. Devriendt off of him. Exhibit 27. The state displayed a photo showing knives that were in the kitchen and the holder with some knives missing. T. 301. During Mr. Fryou's audio statement, Captain Pullen remarked to him that he noticed that his chin was marked up. Exhibit 27. Mr. Fryou said he did everything to get away after the fight started. Says Mr. Devriendt kept fighting him and trying to get the knife from him. Say they fought and scuffled all of the way through the kitchen into the living room. Mr. Fryou stated that he lost his mind. He said he went off. After Mr. Devriendt felled down by the wall, he stabbed him a couple more times to make sure he couldn't get up. He said he did not plan or expect for it to go this way, because he did not go over there to kill him. He was suppose to have been over there a week before for a job. He also said that he tried to clean up any fingerprints of his and that he staged a robbery by taking Mr. Devriendt's

wallet. Exhibit 27. However, he testified during trial that Ms. Newsome stole Mr. Devriendt's wallet the day before and gave him \$600. He said he made up the story that he stole the wallet to protect Ms. Newsome because he did not want her to go to jail. T. 302. Mr. Fryou was very emotional during the interview. He was clearly upset over what Pat said he did with Ms. Newsome. Exhibit 27.

To support his version that Mr. Devriendt pinned him to the floor and was pounding his head to the floor and also that Mr. Devriendt kept fighting him, Mr. Fryou offered into evidence Exhibits 1-3 to show the injuries he received during the altercation with Mr. Devriendt. Exhibits 1-3 each has nine photos on one sheet. Exhibit 1 photos display cuts on Mr. Fryou's back, neck, arms, fingers and legs. Exhibit 2 display photos of Mr. Fryou's face, neck and arms. These photos display gashes on both of Mr. Fryou's eyebrows and the side of his face and other facial injuries. Finally, Exhibit 3 display photos of Mr. Fryou's body parts showing cuts, scratches and bruises to his legs, hands, arms and back. T. 287-290.

"Every accused has a fundamental right to have her theory of the case presented to a jury even if the evidence is minimal." Chinn v. State, 958 So.2d 1223 (Miss. 2007). "A criminal defendant has right to assert alternative theories of defense, even inconsistent alternative theories as long as there is an evidentiary basis in the record. Reddix v. State, 731 So.2d 591 (Miss. 1999)citing Love v. State, 441 So.2d 1353, 1356 (Miss. 1983). "In homicide cases, the trial court should instruct the jury about a defendant's theories of defense, justification, or excuse that are supported by the evidence, no matter how meager or unlikely, and the trial court's failure to do so is error requiring reversal of a judgement of conviction." Manuel v. State, 667 So.2d 590 (Miss. 1995) citing Hester v. State, 602 So.2d 869,872 (Miss. 1992)citing Murphy v. State, 566 So.2d 1201, 1206-07 (Miss. 1990); Sayles v. State, 552 So.2d 1383, 1390 (Miss. 1989).

"Defendants are entitled to instructions on their theory of the case for which there is foundation in evidence, even though evidence might be weak, insufficient, inconsistent, or of doubtful credibility and even though the sole support of defense is the defendant's own testimony." Welch v. State, 566 So.2d 680 (Miss. 1990).

In the present case, whether Mr. Fryou killed Mr. Devriendt is not at issue. The issue is whether the jury could have found Mr. Fryou guilty of killing Mr. Devriendt without Mr. Fryou being in the commission of a robbery. There was a dispute between Ms. Newsome and Mr. Fryou over who took the wallet. Ms Newsome admitted that she began a relationship with Mr. Devriendt while Mr. Fryou was incarcerated and it is reasonable that she went over to see him the day before the killing and took his wallet. All of the other evidence in the record clearly shows the killing took place because of the sexual relationship between Mr. Devriendt and Ms. Newsome and the fact that Mr. Devriendt bragged about it. Also, Mr. Fryou admitted that once Mr. Devriendt started pounding his head, he did anything he could to get free. He was clearly afraid and he got angrier after Mr. Devriendt held him down on the floor pounding his head. Finally, a review of the tape shows that the killing took place over Ms. Newsome because Mr. Fryou was very upset and that was obviously his reason for killing Mr. Devriendt. Also, there was not any evidence stated in the record of a problem between Mr. Fryou and Mr. Devriendt until the sexual relationship with Ms. Newsome.

Based on the testimony of the above witnesses there is an evidentiary basis in the record to support the giving of a simple murder instruction. Simple murder, a lesser-included offense instruction for capital murder, should have been granted because the trial judge and ultimately this Court cannot say, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Fryou and considering all the reasonable inferences which may be drawn in favor of Mr. Fryou from the evidence, that no reasonable jury could find Mr. Fryou guilty of simple murder(conversely, not guilty of at least one essential element

of the principal charge) Randall v. State, 716 so.2d 584 (Miss. 1998), citing Ballenger v. State, 667 So.2d 1242, 1255 (Miss. 1995) (quoting Conner v. State, 632 So.2d 1239, 1254 (Miss. 1993)). cert. denied, 518 U.S. 1024, (1996).

II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GIVE A LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE INSTRUCTION ON MANSLAUGHTER.

Mr. Fryou contends that the trial court erred when it refused to grant him a lesser-included offense instruction on manslaughter. The trial court denied jury instructions D-14 and D-15 which would have given the jury the option to consider simple murder and manslaughter as lesser included offenses of capital murder. RE 75-77. The only reasoning the trial court gave for denial of these instructions was that manslaughter and self defense are opposing defenses and that the trial court did not believe that the defense was entitled to a heat of passion manslaughter instruction and a self-defense instruction. T. 334.

The trial court also refused the definition of heat of passion jury instruction which was D-22. T. 336. Jury Instruction D-22 read: The court instructs the jury that "heat of passion" has been defined as a state of violent and uncontrollable rage engendered by a blow or certain other provocation given, which will reduce a homicide from the grade of murder to that of manslaughter. Passion or anger suddenly aroused at the time by some immediate and reasonable provocation, by words or acts or one at the time. The term includes an emotional state of mind characterized by anger, rage, hatred, furious resentment or terror.

"Every accused has a fundamental right to have her theory of the case presented to a jury even if the evidence is minimal." Chinn v. State, 958 So.2d 1223 (Miss. 2007). "Lesser included offense instructions should be given if there is an evidentiary basis in the record that would permit a jury

Chandler v. State, 946 So.2d 355 (Miss. 2007) citing Welch v. State, 566 So.2d 680, 684 (Miss. 1990). A lesser-included offense instruction should be granted unless the trial judge and ultimately this Court can say, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the accused and considering all the reasonable inferences which may be drawn in favor of the accused from the evidence, that no reasonable jury could find the defendant guilty of a simple murder([and] conversely, not guilty of at least one essential element of the principal charge) Chandler v. State, 946 So.2d at 360 citing McGowan v. State, 541 So.2d 1027, 1028 (Miss. 1989).

In the present case, Mr. Fryou testified that on the morning of August 20, 2005, he went over to see Mr. Devriendt about a roofing job and to return his wallet that Ms. Newsome stole from him. He arrived early because the earlier you get to the job the cooler it is. T. 271. He said after knocking on the door and windows Mr. Devriendt invited him in and they discussed the job that Mr. Devriendt had available. At some point, Mr. Devriendt provoked Mr. Fryou with the words that he spoke. He says they were in the kitchen and Pat started off by asking whether he got rid of his girlfriend. He asked him, "Kicked that bitch to the curb yet". Says he further said the only thing she is good for is giving head. State's Exhibit 27. At that time, he said he swung at him and missed, then he swung at him again and missed the second time. Mr. Devriendt made the first contact when he knocked him down and got on top of his back and started pounding his face into the floor. T.306. Mr. Devriendt had him pinned down on the floor because he was bigger than him. Mr. Devriendt was six feet and weighed 220 pounds and Mr. Fryou weighed 130 pounds. T. 276 and 195. There was a knife on the floor and he picked it up. He said he stabbed and kept stabbing to try to get loose from him. He said he did not bring a knife with him despite what Ms. Newsome stated. He testified that he saw a knife on the floor and grabbed it and that's how he got Mr. Devriendt off of him. Exhibit 5 was offered into evidence to support Mr. Fryou's theory that he got the knife off the floor. Exhibit 5 has a photo showing knives that were in the kitchen and the holder with some knives missing. T. 301. During Mr. Fryou's statement Captain Pullen remarked to him that he noticed that his chin was marked up. Exhibit 27. Mr. Fryou said he did everything to get away after the fight started. Says Pat kept fighting him and trying to get the knife from him. Say they fought and scuffled all of the way through the kitchen into the living room. Mr. Fryou asserts that this is consistent with Dr. Paul McGarry's testimony that the wounds were administered in almost a frenzy. T. 198. Mr. Fryou stated that he lost his mind. He said he went off. Says Pat felled down by the wall and he stabbed him a couple more times to make sure he couldn't get up. He said he did not plan or expect for it to go this way. Says he did not go over to kill him. He was suppose to been over there a week before for a job.

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-35 (Rev. 2000) states: "The killing of a human being, without malice, in the heat of passion, but in a cruel or unusual manner, or by the use of a dangerous weapon, without authority of law, and not in necessary self-defense, shall be manslaughter." The Mississippi Supreme Court has defined "heat of passion" as a state of violent and uncontrollable rage engendered by a blow or certain other provocation given, which will reduce a homicide from the grade of murder to that of manslaughter. Passion or anger suddenly aroused at the time by some immediate and reasonable provocation, by words or acts of one at the time. The term includes an emotional state of mind characterized by anger, rage, hatred, furious resentment or terror. Tait v. State, 669 So.2d 85, 89 (Miss. 1996)citing Buchanan v. State, 567 So.2d 194, 197 (Miss. 1990).

There is an evidentiary basis in the record for a manslaughter "heat of passion" instruction. Mr. Fryou was invited into Mr. Devriendt's home by Mr. Devriendt, so he had a right to be where he was. The provocation in the present case was the words used to describe Ms. Newsome who Mr. Fryou had been with for nine years and had fathered a small child. Mr. Fryou contends the words, "kicked that

bitch to the curb yet", and "the only thing she is good for is giving head", was sufficient provocation to cause him to swing at Mr. Devriendt. Next, the pounding of Mr. Fryou's face against the floor by Mr. Devriendt who weighed almost a hundred pounds more than he, coupled with the words Mr. Devriendt spoke caused the emotional state of Mr. Fryou to be such as he described, "that he lost his mind and just went off".

A manslaughter "heat of passion" instruction should have been granted because the trial judge and ultimately this Court cannot say, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Fryou and considering all the reasonable inferences which may be drawn in favor of Mr. Fryou from the evidence, that no reasonable jury could find Mr. Fryou guilty of manslaughter (conversely, not guilty of at least one essential element of the principal charge).

III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GRANT THE APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR A JURY INSTRUCTION BASED UPON THE WEATHERSBY RULE.

Mr. Fryou contends that the trial court erred in refusing to give jury instruction D-13 which reads: The Court instructs the jury that where the defendant is the only eyewitness to the alleged homicide, his version, if reasonable, must be accepted as true, unless substantially contradicted in material particulars by a credible witness or witnesses for the state, or by physical facts, or by facts of common knowledge. R.E. 59.

[Where] the defendant or the defendant's witnesses are the only witnesses to the homicide their version, if reasonable, must be accepted as true, unless substantially contradicted in material particulars by a credible witness or witnesses for the state, or by the physical facts or by the facts of common knowledge. Weathersby v. State, 147 So. 481, 482 (1933).

In Weathersby the only eyewitness to a homicide was the appellant and his wife. The appellant and his wife were considerably frightened as the deceased, who had already been to their home moments earlier and threatened both of them with death, and was particularly abusive to appellant's wife, again approached their home with a pistol and more threats. When he reached within a few feet of their home, he was shot by the appellant. Their testimony made out a case of self-defense. The Court found the only distinct contradiction of their version of the killing was some evidence by the state that the shot went though some growing corn in such a manner as to have shown that the defendant could not have been at the point where he said he stood and the deceased at the point where appellant placed him. Other witnesses for the state corroborated in this particular the locations insisted upon by the appellant.

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