# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VICTOR LOWELL FRYOU

FILED

**APPELLANT** 

SEP 2 1 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2007-KA-0635

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VS.

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Fryou is procedurally barred from raising on appeal the issue of a lesser-included offense jury instruction on simple murder as he did not raise the issue in his motion for new trial. Notwithstanding the procedural bar, the trial court acted within its discretion in refusing to allow a lesser-included jury instruction on simple murder as the evidence did not support such an instruction. Additionally, the trial court acted within its discretion in refusing to allow a lesser-included offense instruction on manslaughter.

Fryou is also procedurally barred from raising the issue of whether he was entitled to a Weathersby rule instruction as he did not raise the issue in his motion for new trial. Again, the trial court acted within its discretion in refusing the instruction as the Weathersby rule is not the proper subject of a jury instruction.

#### ARGUMENTS

Jury instructions are within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Shumpert v. State*, 935 So.2d 962 (Miss. 2006). "Abuse of discretion is found when the reviewing court has a 'definite and firm conviction' that the court below committed a clear error of judgment and conclusion it reached upon a weighing of the relevant factors." *Jones v. State*, 912 So.2d 501, 504 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (quoting *Withers v. State*, 907 So.2d 342, 345 (Miss. 2005)).

I. DEFENDANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING ON APPEAL THE ISSUE OF A LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE JURY INSTRUCTION ON SIMPLE MURDER; HOWEVER, NOTWITHSTANDING THE BAR, THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING SAID INSTRUCTION.

Fryou asserts that the "trial court erred when it refused to grant him a lesser-included offense instruction on simple murder" arguing that "the evidence is insufficient to find he was engaged in the commission of robbery at the time he killed Mr. Devriendt." (Appellant's Brief p. 4). However, Fryou is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal as it was not raised in his motion for new trial. (Record p. 95). See Alonso v. State, 838 So.2d 309, 313 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (holding that the issue in question was procedurally barred even though an objection was raised at trial because the matter was not raised in the motion for new trial) and Beckum v. State, 917 So.2d 808, 813 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (holding that the issue in question was procedurally barred as it was not specifically raised in defendant's motion for J.N.O.V. or motion for new trial). Moreover, this Court has held that "as a general rule, a litigant cannot raise issues for the first time on appeal because the trial judge had no opportunity to deal with the issue at the trial level." Jones v. State, 958 So.2d 840, 843 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing Crowder v. State, 850 So.2d 199, 200 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)). As Fryou's motion for new trial did not specifically raise this issue, he is procedurally barred from raising it on appeal.

Regardless of the procedural bar, Fryou's first issue is without merit. Mississippi law is "well-settled that jury instructions are not given unless there is an evidentiary basis in the record for such." Fairchild v. State, 459 So.2d 793, 800 (Miss.1984) (citing Colburn v. State, 431 So.2d 1111, 1114 (Miss.1983) and Johnson v. State, 416 So.2d 383, 388 (Miss.1982)). Further, it has been held with regard to jury instructions:

The standard of review is "whether an issue should be submitted to the jury is determined by whether there is evidence, which, if believed by the jury, could result in resolution of the issue in favor of the party requesting the instruction. Conversely, only where the evidence is so one-sided that no reasonable juror could find for the requesting party on the issue at hand may the trial court deny an instruction on a material issue."

Gill v. State, 924 So.2d 554, 556 (Miss Ct. App. 2005) (quoting Walls v. State, 672 So.2d 1227, 1230 (Miss. 1996)). Additionally, the Mississippi Supreme Court has also held that "[I]esser offense instructions should not be granted indiscriminately, and only where there is an evidentiary basis in the record." Shumpert v. State, 935 So.2d 962 (Miss. 2006) (citing Gangl v. State, 539 So.2d 132, 136 (Miss.1989)) (emphasis added). Moreover, "[u]nwarranted submission of a lesser offense [instruction] is an invitation to the jury to disregard the law." Id. (quoting Stewart v. State, 909 So.2d 52, 55 (Miss.2005)) (emphasis added).

Mississippi Code Annotated §97-3-19(2)(e) defines capital murder as "[t]he killing of a human being without the authority of law by any means or in any manner . . . [w]hen done with or without any design to effect death, by any person engaged in the commission of the crime of . . . robbery . . . or in any attempt to commit such felonies." In the case at hand, the underlying crime during which Mr. Devriendt was killed was robbery. Therefore, in order for there to be sufficient evidence of capital murder, there must be evidence that Fryou killed the victim while in the commission of a robbery. There is more than sufficient evidence in this regard:

- a. Fryou admits to killing Mr. Devriendt. (Transcript p. 278).
- b. Fryou admits that he drove away from Mr. Devriendt's house in Mr. Devreindt's truck. (Transcript p. 277).
- c. Fryou admits that he buried Mr. Devreindt's wallet. (Transcript p. 302).
- d. Mr. Devreindt's wallet was found buried in Fryou's sister's yard with no cash inside. (Transcript p. 164 and 167).
- e. Fryou's girlfriend testified that Mr. Devreindt returned from the victim's house with "paper money" and "lots of it." (Transcript p. 127).

Fryou, however, states that "whether Mr. Fryou killed Mr. Devriendt is not at issue," and argues that "the issue is whether the jury could have found Mr. Fryou guilty of killing Mr. Devriendt without Mr. Fryou being in the commission of a robbery." (Appellant's Brief p. 8). In *Spicer v. State*, the defendant also argued that because there was "some evidence supporting his contention that he did not rob [the victim], he was entitled to a jury instruction of the lesser-included offense of murder." 921 So.2d 292, 312-13 (Miss. 2006). The Court disagreed noting that there was "too much evidence in the record of the underlying felony of robbery for a reasonable juror to find Spicer guilty of simple murder beyond a reasonable doubt" as there was "evidence that he stole the sword because he was in possession of it after [the victim's] death and it had [the victim's] blood on it." *Id.* at 313. In the case at hand, Fryou admitted to burying Mr. Devreindt's wallet in his sister's yard and the wallet was found in the yard with Mr. Devreindt's identification but without cash. (Transcript p. 164, 167, and 302). Further, Fryou was seen immediately after the murder with "paper money" and "lots of it." (Transcript p. 127). "Possession of a deceased's property creates a reasonable inference that the property was stolen." *Id.* at 312.

Fryou also asserts that there was evidence of simple murder in that "the killing took place because of the sexual relationship between Mr. Devreindt and Ms. Newsome and the fact that Mr. Devriendt bragged about it." (Appellant's Brief p. 8). However, Fryou testified that he went to see Mr. Devriendt to discuss the alleged sexual relationship with his girlfriend days earlier and there was

no violence whatsoever at that time. (Transcript p. 267 - 268). Further, Mr. Devriendt denied the sexual relationship with Fryou's girlfriend so the murder certainly could not be a result of his bragging. (Transcript p. 268). Furthermore, and most importantly, there was ample evidence of a robbery, and "there is no evidence to support a theory of simple murder when the underlying felony to that murder is glaringly obvious." Walker v. State, 913 So.2d 198, 237 (Miss. 2005) (emphasis added). Moreover, "the evidence must support a finding that the killing was not committed during the commission of [a robbery] in order to justify a simple murder instruction." Bell v. State, 725 So.2d 836, 854 (Miss. 1998) (emphasis added). As the evidence does not support a finding that Mr. Devriendt's murder was not committed during the commission of a robbery, there is no basis for a simple murder instruction. As such, Fryou's first issue is without merit.

# II. THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO ALLOW A LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE INSTRUCTION ON MANSLAUGHTER.

Fryou also argues that the "trial court erred when it refused to grant him a lesser-included offense instruction on manslaughter." (Appellant's Brief p. 9). However, a homicide which occurs during the commission of a robbery is capital murder regardless of the intent of the defendant and the defendant is, therefore, not entitled to a manslaughter instruction. *See Burns v. State*, 729 So.2d 203, 225 (Miss. 1998) and *Griffin v. State*, 557 So.2d 542, 549 (Miss. 1990). As set forth above, there was more than sufficient evidence that Fryou committed a robbery in that he had possession of the victim's wallet and money and he drove away in the victim's truck.

Fryou claims that he was provoked to swing at the victim when he spoke badly of Fryou's girlfriend and therefore, killed Mr. Devriendt in the "heat of passion." Similarly, the defendant in *Jacobs v. State*, a capital murder case in which the underlying felony was robbery, also requested a manslaughter instruction claiming that he did not have the intent to rob because of duress and that

he shot the victim because he was under the imminent threat of death. 870 So.2d 1202, 1209 (Miss. 2004). However, the Mississippi Supreme Court upheld the trial court's decision to refuse the lesser instruction stating:

This Court finds that the trial court was correct in denying the manslaughter instruction because there was no factual basis or evidence to support the instruction. Even if Jacobs was found not guilty of murder, he would nevertheless be guilty of capital murder because the victim was killed in the commission of a robbery. The jury was given instructions that duress is a defense to robbery, and the jury found that there was no such duress. Therefore, because Jacobs was found guilty of robbery, and the death resulted in the commission of the robbery, Jacobs is guilty of capital murder regardless of whether a lesser-included offense instruction is given. The trial court did not err in refusing the jury instruction of the lesser-included offense of manslaughter.

Id. (emphasis added). As Fryou was also found guilty of robbery and as the victim's death resulted in the commission of the robbery, Fryou was not entitled to a manslaughter instruction. Therefore, Fryou's second issue is without merit.

III. DEFENDANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING ON APPEAL THE ISSUE OF AN INSTRUCTION BASED UPON THE WEATHERSBY RULE; HOWEVER, NOTWITHSTANDING THE BAR, THE WEATHERSBY RULE IS NOT THE PROPER SUBJECT OF A JURY INSTRUCTION.

Lastly, Fryou argues that the trial court erred in refusing to grant a jury instruction based on the *Weathersby* rule. (Appellant's Brief p. 12). However, Fryou failed to raise this issue in his motion for new trial. (Record p. 95). Accordingly, as set forth in detail above, he is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal. Furthermore, notwithstanding the bar, "the *Weathersby* Rule is not the proper subject of an instruction to the jury." *Green v. State*, 631 So.2d 167, 175 (Miss. 1994 (quoting *Windham v. State*, 602 So.2d 798, 800 n. 3 (Miss. 1992)). Accordingly, Fryou's third issue is also without merit.

#### CONCLUSION

The State of Mississippi respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm Fryou's conviction and sentence as the trial court did not commit reversible error.